IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Jan 16 2024

02:54PM EST

Transaction ID 71811950

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Plaintiff Below, Respondent,

v.

Supreme Court No.: 23-603

Case No.: 22-F-93

Circuit Court of Cabell County

AUSTIN STEVENS,

Defendant Below, Petitioner.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

GARY A. COLLIAS
West Virginia State Bar #784
Appellate Counsel
Appellate Advocacy Division
Public Defender Services
One Players Club Drive, Suite 301
Charleston, WV 25311
(304)558-3905
gary.a.collias@wv.gov

Counsel for Petitioner

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The circuit court erred in ruling that misdemeanor animal cruelty, as a matter of law, is not a lesser included offense of felony animal cruelty and accordingly erred in refusing to instruct the jury on that lesser included offense.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Issue

The Petitioner Austin Stevens was indicted by a Cabell County grand jury for the offense of felony animal cruelty in violation of W.Va. Code § 61-8-19(b) stemming from an incident in which the Petitioner wounded an Angus calf with two arrows shot from a compound bow leading to the putting down of the animal. A.R. 365. At the conclusion of the evidence at trial, the circuit court heard argument on the jury instructions. The defense offered an instruction on the lesser included offense of misdemeanor animal cruelty in violation of W.Va. Code § 61-8-19(a)(1)(A). A.R. 296-97. See the proposed lesser included offense instruction at A.R. 397. Initially the court rightly refused to give the tendered lesser included offense instruction for the stated reason that the proposed instruction "...talks about being a misdemeanor and a possible fine and up to six months in jail. That is not allowed in any case. You never tell the jury what the penalty is." A.R. 296. Defense counsel immediately offered to amend the proposed instruction to "remove the penalty language." A.R. 296. Nevertheless, the court refused to give the instruction for the stated legal reason that, "I don't think that is a lesser included offense." A.R. 297.

W.Va. Code § 61-8-19(a)(1)(A) provides that it is "unlawful for any person to intentionally, knowingly or recklessly, ... [m]istreat an animal in cruel manner." Subsection (a)(2) makes any violation of subsection (a)(1)(A) a misdemeanor. Subsection (b) of this same statute makes any "person who intentionally tortures, or mutilates or maliciously kills an animal, ... guilty of a felony...." It is the position of the Petitioner that the court below erred in not giving the requested lesser included offense jury instruction since a subsection (a)(1)(A) misdemeanor violation is clearly intended by the Legislature to be a lesser included offense of a subsection (b) felony violation.

B. The Procedural History

A one-day jury trial in this matter took place on May 30, 2023. A.R. 87. The State called three witnesses. The first witness was Vickie Scarberry. A.R. 161. She was the wife of Rusty Scarberry. The two of them were owners of the calf that was killed. A.R. 162-64. She testified that on December 4, 2021, she found one of their calves with two arrows in it, one arrow in the side and the other between the eyes, and she called 9-1-1. A.R. 164. She then called her husband Rusty, and he came home and went looking for whoever had shot the calf by following a trail of blood. A.R. 166-70. During cross-examination, Mrs. Scarberry testified that there was a history of cows escaping from their property somewhere between “once a week” and “every few months.” A.R. 172.

The State’s next witness was Rusty Scarberry, the husband of Vickie Scarberry and the co-owner of the calf. A.R. 174-75. Mr. Scarberry testified that at one time the Petitioner Mr. Stevens had been his employee and that the employment had ended in unfriendly circumstances. A.R. 177-78. Mr. Scarberry indicated that on December 4, 2021 he received a phone call from his wife and came home and found the calf with two arrows sticking out of its face and side. A.R. 178-79. He then followed a trail of blood back to the house of the Petitioner and confronted the Petitioner regarding the calf. A.R. 183-84. The police and animal control officer Jon Rutherford arrived on the scene shortly afterward and assumed investigation of the matter. A.R. 186-87.

The State’s third witness was former animal control officer Jon Rutherford. A.R. 197. He testified that he arrived at the scene and observed the calf and its wounds. A.R. 200-02. Officer Rutherford stated that the arrow in the chest was “ticking to each heartbeat” indicating that it was shot directly into the heart and that it was a fatal injury. A.R. 203-04. Officer Rutherford further testified that he followed the blood trail from the Scarberry property to the Petitioner’s home. A.R. 207. He then interviewed the Petitioner about what had happened. The Petitioner acknowledged that he had shot the calf with his compound bow. A.R. 208. The reasons were (1) that the Petitioner was “sick of it coming over on his property and … shitting everywhere,” (2) the Petitioner did not like the neighbor, presumably Mr. Scarberry, and (3) that the Petitioner was fearful of the animal. A.R. 208-09. Officer Rutherford then took a written statement from the Petitioner which was read to the jury but never admitted as an exhibit. A.R.

209, 215-16. A recorded audio statement of the Petitioner was also taken by Officer Rutherford and was played for the jury and admitted into evidence as State's Exhibit 18. A.R. 214, 229-36. Officer Rutherford euthanized the calf because he believed the injuries were fatal. A.R. 239-40, 244-45. The State then rested. A.R. 246.

The Petitioner called two witnesses in his case in chief. The first witness was Karen LeGrand, the grandmother of the Petitioner. A.R. 248. Mrs. LeGrand testified that she was the owner of the property on which the Petitioner lived and that in the 9 months or so before the December 4, 2021 incident cows belonging to the Scarberrys would come onto her land about every two weeks. A.R. 249-50. She also stated that when the cattle came onto her land, she would call Mr. Scarberry's mother-in-law, who was her aunt, and ask that the complaint be communicated to the Scarberrys. A.R. 250. She did not call Mr. Scarberry directly because she felt he was disrespectful and would cuss her and tell her to mind her own business. A.R. 250. Mrs. LeGrand also indicated that on a number of occasions she called the Cabell County Sheriff's office, 9-1-1, and the animal shelter, but that nothing was ever done about the situation. A.R. 251, 257. She also testified that the cattle damaged her property by moving the earth and leaving their excrement where it had to be mowed over. A.R. 251, 256.

The next and final defense witness was the Petitioner Austin Stevens. A.R. 261. He testified that on December 4, 2021 he came home from work to find the calf at his house which happened on a pretty frequent basis. A.R. 262. At the time the Petitioner's three-to-four-month-old, ten-pound puppy, went up to the calf and sniffed and barked. A.R. 263-64. The Petitioner tried to shoo the calf away without success. A.R. 264. The calf started snorting and moving around a lot. A.R. 265. The Petitioner testified that he was afraid the calf would kill his small dog by bucking, kicking, or stomping. A.R. 265. The Petitioner retrieved his bow and arrows from his house. A.R. 266. He once again repeatedly tried to shoo the animal away to no avail. A.R. 266. At this point the Petitioner decided to kill the calf. He shot it in the heart with an arrow. A.R. 267. The animal kept going and did not back off. A.R. 267. The Petitioner shot the calf again, this time in the head, in an attempt to quickly kill it. A.R. 267. The calf then walked back to the Scarberry property. A.R. 269. After a few minutes the Petitioner is confronted by Mr. Scarberry who shares "a few choice" words with the Petitioner and tells him that he is going to jail. A.R. 271. The Petitioner further stated that Mr. Scarberry had previously

threaten to kill him. A.R. 272. The police then arrived, and the Petitioner gave both a written and a recorded oral statement. A.R. 271, 282. The defense then rested. A.R. 287.

At this point the State recalled each of its three witnesses in rebuttal. First, Rusty Scarberry retook the stand and denied that prior to the incident in question he had threatened the Petitioner. A.R. 288. Second, Vickie Scarberry testified that her mother had received a phone call from Mrs. LeGrand about cows being on her property prior to the incident. A.R. 289-90. Finally, animal control officer Rutherford testified that he was not aware of any complaint by the Petitioner concerning cows on his property. A.R. 291.

The court then took up the matter of jury instructions. The Petitioner's counsel offered a jury instruction on the lesser included offense for the misdemeanor violation of W.Va. Code § 61-8-19(a)(1)(A) for intentionally, knowingly or recklessly “[m]istreat[ing] an animal in cruel manner.” A.R. 296-97, 397. The felony version of animal cruelty required the accused “intentionally tortures, or mutilates or maliciously kills an animal.” W.Va. Code § 61-8-19(b). The court refused the instruction stating that, “I don't think that is a lesser included offense.” A.R. 297.

The jury was instructed, the parties did closing arguments, and the jury deliberated and returned a verdict of guilty of the felony offense of animal cruelty without being offered the option of convicting of the misdemeanor lesser included offense. A.R. 330, 402. The Petitioner filed a Motion for New Trial seeking a new trial, for among other reasons, that the court erred in not instructing the jury on the lesser included offense. A.R. 403.

The court held a sentencing hearing on September 15, 2023. At this hearing the court orally denied the motion for new trial. A.R. 349. The court then sentenced the Petitioner to four years probation, with the first year to be served on home confinement, plus payment of \$1500 in restitution and a \$1000 fine. A.R. 357, 408-09. A final Sentencing Order was entered on September 20, 2023. It is from this final order that the Petitioner brings this timely appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Misdemeanor animal cruelty (W.Va. Code § 61-8-19(a)(1)(A)) is a lesser included offense of felony animal cruelty (W.Va. Code § 61-8-19(b)) and the circuit court erred when it found otherwise as a matter of law and refused to give the lesser included instruction to the jury. A.R. 296-97, 397. The first inquiry in deciding if a crime is a lesser included offense is whether by virtue of its *legal* elements or definition it is included in the greater offense, and as such is a purely legal determination subject to *de novo* review. The second inquiry is a *factual* one which involves a determination by the trial court of whether there is *evidence* which would tend to prove such lesser included offense.” [Emphasis added] *State v. Blankenship*, Syl. Pt. 4, 208 W.Va. 612, 542 S.E.2d 433 (2000); quoting *State v. Jones*, Syl. Pt. 1, 174 W.Va. 700, 329 S.E.2d 65 (1965).

The misdemeanor described in § 61-8-19(a)(1)(A) as “[m]istreat[ing] an animal in cruel manner” is a lesser included offense of “maliciously kill[ing]” an animal under subsection (b). As demonstrated below, it is impossible to maliciously kill an animal without mistreating it in a cruel manner. Furthermore, this statute should be construed this way in order to give effect to the legislative intent. See *Smith v. State Workmen’s Comp. Comm’r*, Syl. Pt. 1, 159 W.Va. 108, 219 S.E.2d 361 (1975); *State v. White*, Syl. Pt. 2, 188 W.Va. 534, 425 S.E.2d 210 (1992); and *State v. Maichle*, __ W.Va. __, 895 S.E.2d 181, 187 (2023). Second, the evidence presented at trial, when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, would tend to prove guilt of the misdemeanor.

Accordingly, the circuit court committed reversible error when it refused to give the tendered instruction and the conviction of the Petitioner should be set aside and a new trial ordered.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner requests Rule 20 argument as counsel believes this case presents a question of first impression as to whether misdemeanor animal cruelty is a lesser included offense of felony animal cruelty under W.Va. Code § 61-8-19. While the Petitioner believes that it is a lesser included offense, no decision of this court says so. This appeal also presents an excellent vehicle

for this Court to analyze and discuss the principles that control whether one offense is a lesser included offense of another.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in ruling that misdemeanor animal cruelty, as a matter of law, is not a lesser included offense of felony animal cruelty and accordingly erred in refusing to instruct the jury on that lesser included offense.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: “As a general rule, the refusal to give a requested jury instruction is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. By contrast, the question of whether a jury was properly instructed is a question of law, and the review is *de novo*.” *State v. Hinkle*, Syl. Pt. 1, 200 W.Va. 280, 489 S.E.2d 257 (1996). The first inquiry having to do with whether a crime is a lesser included offense is whether by virtue of its *legal* elements or definition it is included in the greater offense, and as such is a purely legal determination subject to *de novo* review. *State v. Blankenship*, Syl. Pt. 4, 208 W.Va. 612, 542 S.E.2d 433 (2000); quoting *State v. Jones*, Syl. Pt. 1, 174 W.Va. 700, 329 S.E.2d 65 (1965).

“A trial court’s refusal to give a requested instruction is reversible only if: (1) the instruction is a correct statement of the law; (2) it is not substantially covered in the charge actually given to the jury; and (3) it concerns an important point in the trial so that the failure to give it seriously impairs a defendant’s ability to effectively present a given defense.” *State v. Blankenship*, Syl. Pt. 3, 208 W.Va. 612, 542 S.E.2d 433 (2000); quoting *State v. Derr*, Syl. Pt. 11, 192 W.Va. 165, 451 S.E.2d 731 (1994). “If these prerequisites are met, the trial court abuses its discretion in refusing the instruction ‘no matter how tenuous that defense may appear to the trial court.’” *State v. Hinkle*, 200 W.Va. 280, 285, 489 S.E.2d 257, 262 (1996), quoting *U.S. v. Dove*, 916 F.2d 41, 47 (2nd Cir. 1990).

“The question of whether a defendant is entitled to an instruction on a lesser included offense involves a two-part inquiry. The first inquiry is a *legal* one having to do with whether the lesser offense is by virtue of its *legal* elements or definition included in the greater offense. The second inquiry is a *factual* one which involves a determination by the trial court of whether there is *evidence* which would tend to prove such lesser included offense.” [Emphasis added] *State v. Blankenship, supra*, Syl. Pt. 4, quoting *State v. Jones*, Syl. Pt. 1, 174 W.Va. 700, 329 S.E.2d 65 (1965).

The Petitioner's argument is simple and straightforward. *Misdemeanor* animal cruelty (W.Va. Code § 61-8-19(a)(1)(A)) is a lesser included offense of *felony* animal cruelty (W.Va. Code § 61-8-19(b)) and the circuit court erred when it found otherwise as a matter of law and refused to give the lesser included instruction to the jury. A.R. 296-97. See proposed instruction at A.R. 397. W.Va. Code § 61-8-19 provides in pertinent part as follows.

- (a)(1) It is unlawful for any person to intentionally, knowingly or recklessly,
 - (A) Mistreat an animal in cruel manner;
 - (B) Abandon an animal;
 - (C) Withhold;
 - (i) Proper sustenance, including food or water;
 - (ii) Shelter that protects from the elements of weather; or
 - (iii) Medical treatment, necessary to sustain normal health and fitness or to end the suffering of any animal;
 - (D) Abandon an animal to die;
 - (E) Leave an animal unattended and confined in a motor vehicle when physical injury to or death of the animal is likely to result;
 - (F) Ride an animal when it is physically unfit;
 - (G) Bait or harass an animal for the purpose of making it perform for a person's amusement;
 - (H) Cruelly chain or tether an animal; or
 - (I) Use, train or possess a domesticated animal for the purpose of seizing, detaining or maltreating any other domesticated animal.

(2) Any person in violation of subdivision (1) of this subsection is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not less than three hundred nor more than two thousand dollars or confined in jail not more than six months, or both.

(b) A person who intentionally tortures, or mutilates or maliciously kills an animal, or causes, procures or authorizes any other person to torture, mutilate or maliciously kill an animal, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be confined in a correctional facility not less than one nor more than five years and be fined not less than one thousand dollars nor more than five thousand dollars. For the purposes of this subsection, "torture" means an action taken for the primary purpose of inflicting pain.

It is obvious from the structure of this statute the Legislature intended subsection (a)(1) to cover a large range of criminal conduct including to "[m]istreat[ing] an animal in cruel manner" pursuant to subsection (a)(1)(A) that is at issue in this case. Subsection (a)(2) made this conduct a misdemeanor. The Legislature then went on in subsection (b) to create a felony offense for any "person who intentionally tortures or mutilates or maliciously kills an animal." Clearly this felony was intended to reach wrongful conduct that exceeded that which was outlawed by the

preceding subsection (a)(1). The evidence in this case could not possibly provide proof beyond a reasonable doubt of torture or mutilation. There was no evidence at all of torture or mutilation. The evidence in this case, when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, could only support a verdict based upon maliciously killing the calf. Indeed, that was the theory of the prosecution, and the judge instructed the jury at length on the definition of “malice.” A.R. 304-06. See prosecutor’s closing argument at A.R. 308-10, 312-13.

The issue in this case when narrowed to its essence is whether the misdemeanor described in § 61-8-19(a)(1)(A) as “[m]istreat[ing] an animal in cruel manner” is a lesser included offense of “maliciously kill[ing]” an animal under subsection (b). In order to answer this question, the Court must determine the intent of the Legislature. *Smith v. State Workmen’s Comp. Comm’r*, Syl. Pt. 1, 159 W.Va. 108, 219 S.E.2d 361 (1975) (“The primary object in construing a statute is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the Legislature.”). In analyzing legislative intent, this Court considers a statute as a whole. *State v. White*, Syl. Pt. 2, 188 W.Va. 534, 425 S.E.2d 210 (1992) (“In ascertaining legislative intent, effect must be given to each part of the statute and to the statute as a whole so as to accomplish the general purpose of the legislation.”). For the most recent statement of these principles, see *State v. Maichle*, ___ W.Va. ___, 985 S.E.2d 181, 187 (2023).

First, the salient fact that the misdemeanors set forth in subsection (a) are followed immediately by the felonies set forth in subsection (b) indicates they are intended to be lesser and greater versions of the same offense, that is, animal cruelty. Indeed, § 61-8-19 is entitled “Cruelty to animals; penalties; exclusions” indicating that it includes different penalties for different degrees of the same type of criminal conduct.

“The test of determining whether a particular offense is a lesser included offense is that the lesser offense must be such that it is impossible to commit the greater offense without first having committed the lesser offense. An offense is not a lesser included offense if it requires the inclusion of an element not required in the greater offense.” *State v. Wright*, Syl. Pt. 5, 200 W.Va. 549, 490 S.E.2d 636 (1997). See also *State v. Maichle*, ___ W.Va. ___, 985 S.E.2d 181, 187 (2023); *State v. Drakes*, 243 W.Va. 339, 348, 844 S.E.2d 110, 119 (2020); *State v. Louk*, Syl. Pt. 1, 169 W.Va. 24, 285 S.E.2d 432 (1981), overruled on other grounds by *State v. Jenkins*, 191 W.Va. 87, 443 S.E.2d 244 (1994).

With regard to the subsection (a)(1)(A) misdemeanor of intentionally, knowingly or recklessly mistreating an animal in cruel manner, it requires two elements in addition to the mental state or *mens rea*, (1) mistreatment, and (2) cruelty. A subsection (b) felony violation on the other hand requires (1) malice, and (2) the killing of an animal. The misdemeanor can be committed by mere recklessness resulting in cruel mistreatment, or in intending or knowing cruel mistreatment will result. This is extraordinarily broad language that captures a vast amount of behavior. The felony is much narrower and requires more. Obviously, the felony requires that the animal in question die. But there is another difference. The felony requires “malice,” a much higher and more culpable mental state than mere intent, knowledge or recklessness required for the misdemeanor.

The court below instructed the jury as to the definition of “malice” as follows.

The word malice as used in these instructions is used in a technical sense. It may be either express or implied, and it includes not only anger, hatred, and revenge, but other unjustifiable motives.

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