IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Appeal No. 23-603

SCA EFiled: Mar 01 2024  
12:16PM EST  
Transaction ID 72217505

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

*Respondent,*

v.

AUSTIN STEVENS,

*Petitioner.*

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

PATRICK MORRISEY  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Mary Beth Niday (WV Bar # 9092)  
*Assistant Attorney General*  
State Capitol Complex  
Building 6, Suite 406  
Charleston, WV 25305-0220  
Email: [Mary.B.Niday@wvago.gov](mailto:Mary.B.Niday@wvago.gov)  
Telephone: (304) 558-5830  
Facsimile: (304) 558-5833

##

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that he was entitled to a misdemeanor jury instruction for three reasons. First, misdemeanor animal cruelty is not a lesser included offense of felony animal cruelty. Under the categorical approach set forth in Syllabus Point 6, *State v. Thomas*, 249 W. Va. 181, 895 S.E.2d 36 (2023), the focus is on the legal elements or definition of the offense. Here, the elements of the crime require either direct or indirect action for the felony offense but only direct action for the misdemeanor. Because it is possible to commit the felony indirectly it

makes it possible to commit it without having first committed the misdemeanor that requires only direct action.

Second, Petitioner does not dispute that the evidence at trial was sufficient to support the elements of felony animal cruelty—intentionally torturing or maliciously killing an animal—as opposed to mistreating the calf. Petitioner simply argues that the jury might have found the evidence adequate to convict Petitioner of the misdemeanor offense. This is not enough and Petitioner has not demonstrated his entitlement to the lesser instruction.

Third, any error the circuit court may have committed in not giving the misdemeanor instruction is harmless. This is because the evidence at trial was more than sufficient to prove the elements of the greater offense of Petitioner intentionally torturing or maliciously killing the baby calf.

For these reasons, this Court should affirm the circuit court’s order.

#### **STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION**

Oral argument is unnecessary and this case is suitable for disposition by memorandum decision because the record is fully developed and the arguments of both parties are adequately presented in the briefs. W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a)(3), (4).

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“As a general rule, the refusal to give a requested jury instruction is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. By contrast, the question of whether a jury was properly instructed is a question of law, and the review is *de novo*.” Syl. pt. 1, *Thomas*, 249 W. Va. 181, 895 S.E.2d 36 (quoting syl. pt. 1, *State v. Hinkle*, 200 W. Va. 280, 489 S.E.2d 257 (1996)). “Whether facts are sufficient to justify the delivery of a particular instruction is reviewed by this Court under an abuse of discretion standard.” Syl. pt. 2, *State v. Bland*, 239 W. Va. 463, 801 S.E.2d 478 (2017). When a criminal

conviction results, “the evidence and any reasonable inferences are considered in the light most favorable to the prosecution.” *Id.*

## **ARGUMENT**

“Jury instructions on possible guilty verdicts must only include those crimes for which substantial evidence has been presented upon which a jury might justifiably find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” Syl. pt. 5, *State v. Demastus*, 165 W. Va. 572, 270 S.E.2d 649 (1980). This Court looks to a two-part inquiry to determine whether a lesser included offense meets that test and a defendant was entitled to a jury instruction on it. The first inquiry is a legal question: “whether the lesser offense is by virtue of its legal elements or definition included in the greater offense.” Syl. pt. 3, *Thomas*, 249 W. Va. 181, 895 S.E.2d 36 (quoting syl. pt. 3, *State v. Wilkerson*, 230 W. Va. 366, 738 S.E.2d 32 (2013) (internal citations omitted)). This Court has not considered whether misdemeanor animal cruelty under Section 61-8-19(a)(1) is a lesser included offense of felony animal cruelty under Section 61-8-19(b). It is not. Regardless, the Court could save that issue for another day because Petitioner cannot meet the second inquiry.

The first inquiry involves a legal question, which looks to whether the circuit court correctly determined that misdemeanor animal cruelty is not a lesser included offense of felony animal cruelty. This Court has held that “[t]he test of determining whether a particular offense is a lesser included offense is that the lesser offense must be such that it is impossible to commit the greater offense without first having committed the lesser offense.” *Id.* at syl. pt. 4 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). Furthermore, an offense is not considered “a lesser included offense if it requires the inclusion of an element not required in the greater offense.” *Id.*

West Virginia Code § 61-8-19(b) criminalizes animal cruelty as a felony offense when a person “intentionally tortures, or mutilates or maliciously kills an animal.” Someone *also* commits

felony animal cruelty who “causes, procures or authorizes any other person to torture, mutilate or maliciously kill an animal.” *Id.* So, felony animal cruelty can be committed directly or indirectly. Subsection (a), by contrast, criminalizes animal cruelty as a misdemeanor offense, and focuses solely on direct action, not things they can induce someone else to do. This section provides that it is unlawful for “any person to, intentionally, knowingly or recklessly mistreat an animal in [a] cruel manner; abandon an animal; withhold” sustenance, shelter, or medical treatment; “abandon an animal to die; leave an animal unattended and confined in a motor vehicle”; ride a physically unfit animal; bait or harass an animal for amusement; “cruelly chain or tether an animal; or use, train or possess a domesticated animal for the purpose of seizing, detaining or maltreating any other domesticated animal.” *Id.* § 61-8-19(a). While misdemeanor animal cruelty may be committed in several different ways, all require personal action rather than directing another to act.

So the elements of each of the two offenses demonstrate how neither formulation of the lesser included test fits here. It is in fact quite possible to commit the greater felony offense without committing the lesser misdemeanor. If a person commits the felony in the indirect way—causing, procuring, or authorizing another person to commit animal cruelty—then that person has not necessarily committed the misdemeanor offense. The misdemeanor offense “requires the inclusion of an element not required in the greater offense” because it requires a defendant to personally engage in the mistreatment while that is just one way to commit the felony.

Here, Petitioner could not have committed the greater felony offense without first committing the lesser misdemeanor offense because no one suggests he had someone else shoot the calf. In fact, Petitioner admits he shot the calf. In *Thomas*, the determination of whether one crime is a lesser included offense was treated in categorical terms when the Court held that

“[a]ttempted sexual assault in the first degree is not a lesser included offense of sexual assault in the first degree.” Syl. pt. 6, *Thomas*, 249 W. Va. 181, 895 S.E.2d 36. The Court did not qualify its holding based on the facts of the case because the categorical approach focuses exclusively on the “legal elements or definition.” *Id.* at \_\_, 895 S.E.2d at 43 (quoting syl. pt. 3, *Wilkerson*, 230 W. Va. 366, 738 S.2d 32 (“The first inquiry is a legal one having to do with whether the lesser offense is by virtue of its *legal elements or definition* included in the greater offense.”) (emphasis added)).

Moreover, the test uses the term “impossible” to commit—that is a high standard that necessarily excludes any argument that if a person *sometimes but not always* commits the lesser along the way to committing the greater, that is good enough. In *Thomas*, the Court found that the purported “lesser included” had an element the greater offense did not when that element was present sometimes but not always in the greater: “[A]ttempt requires the specific intent to commit a crime,” but “not all crimes are intentionally committed.” *Id.* at \_\_, 895 S.E.2d at 44. So it was not enough for the Court that in *some* cases there might be specific intent for the greater offense. In some cases, like this one, there was direct action required for the felony and misdemeanor animal cruelty. The fact that is not true in *all* cases is enough, though, to show that a crime is not a lesser included offense, and the same is true here. Misdemeanor animal cruelty is not a lesser included offense of felony animal cruelty.

The second inquiry involves a factual question, which looks to whether the circuit court correctly determined that there was “evidence which would tend to prove such lesser included offense.” *Id.* at syl. pt. 3. “[T]he fact that a lesser offense is included within a greater offense[,] however,] does not automatically entitle a defendant to obtain an instruction on the lesser included offense.” *Sowards v. Ames*, 248 W. Va. 213, 225, 888 S.E.2d 23, 35 (2023) (quoting *State v.*

*Neider*, 170 W. Va. 662, 666, 295 S.E.2d 902, 906 (1982)). “Where there is no evidentiary dispute or insufficiency on the elements of the greater offense which are different from the elements of the lesser included offense, then the defendant is not entitled to a lesser included offense instruction.” *Id.* (quoting syl. pt. 2, *Neider*, 170 W. Va. 662, 295 S.E.2d 902).

Section 61-8-19(b) requires that a person “intentionally tortures, or mutilates or maliciously kills an animal.” W. Va. Code § 61-8-9(b). Here, Petitioner does not dispute that the evidence adduced at trial was sufficient to support the distinct elements of the greater offense—intentionally torturing or maliciously killing an animal as opposed to mistreating the animal cruelly. Rather, he simply argues that a jury “*might*” have found the evidence “adequate to convict Petitioner of the misdemeanor.” Pet’r’s Br. 11 (emphasis added). Given that effective concession, even if the Court concludes that misdemeanor animal cruelty is a lesser included offense, Petitioner was “not entitled to a lesser included offense instruction.” *Sowards*, 248 W. Va. at 225, 888 S.E.2d at 35. “There is a presumption of regularity of court proceedings in courts of competent jurisdiction,” and Petitioner—as the person alleging “irregularity”—has “the burden of proving” it. *Id.* at syl. pt. 6. So Petitioner must *prove* an “evidentiary dispute or insufficiency” over the malicious killing or torture elements of the felony. *Id.* at 225, 888 S.E.2d at 35. Mere speculation about what the jury might have done with a lesser included instruction does not meet his burden.

But even if the circuit court erred in failing to give a misdemeanor animal cruelty instruction, such error is harmless. The “[f]ailure to observe a constitutional right constitutes reversible error unless it can be shown that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.* at syl. pt. 8 (quoting syl. pt. 5, *State ex rel. Grob v. Blair*, 158 W. Va. 647, 214 S.E.2d 330 (1975)). “In conducting a harmless error analysis, the inquiry is fact specific.” *State v. Byers*, 247 W. Va. 168, 179, 875 S.E.2d 306, 317 (2022) (citing *State v. Blake*, 197 W. Va. 700, 709, 478 S.E.2d 550,

559 (1996) (“Assessments of harmless error are necessarily content-specific.”). A review of the record shows that any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt as the evidence was insufficient to support a misdemeanor instruction.

Here, the circuit court instructed the jury as to felony animal cruelty. App. 393. As part of its instructions, the court first defined torture (quoting the end of Section 61-8-19(b)) to “mean an action taken for the primary purpose of inflicting pain.” *Id.* Moreover, the court instructed that malice “includes not only anger, hatred and revenge, but other unjustifiable motives” and that the jury could make a reasonable inference of malice from the evidence proven beyond a reasonable doubt. App. 394. The court also instructed that malice may be inferred “from any deliberate and cruel act done by the defendant without any reasonable provocation or excuse, however sudden.” *Id.* The court further defined malice to include “every evil design in general” attendant upon ordinary circumstances “of wicked, depraved and malignant spirit,” including “the plain indications of a heart, regardless of social duty, fatally bent upon mischief.” *Id.* Finally, the court instructed that malice need not “have existed for any particular length of time and it may first come into existence at the time of the act or at any previous time.” *Id.*

At trial, the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Petitioner maliciously killed and intentionally tortured the Scarberrys’ calf. In his brief, Petitioner does not fully state the evidence and limits it to that of Petitioner twice shooting the baby calf, the calf suffering, and that based on the State’s closing argument, Petitioner could have more humanely shot and killed the calf with a firearm. Pet’r’s Br. 11. The reasonable evidence, proved beyond a reasonable doubt, established much more than Petitioner alleges. First, Petitioner’s testimony alone established the requisite intent when he testified that he intended “to put it down” by shooting it first in the heart and then in the head. App. 267:6-10, 15-18. Petitioner, thus, intended to kill the baby calf. Second,

Petitioner used broadhead arrows designed to create a significant injury cavity and shot the calf in the heart and head to accomplish such purpose. App. 267:9-10, 17-18, 22; 268:1-10. Third, Petitioner testified that his dog twice returned to him on command during the incident with the baby calf. App. 265:2-4; 283:8-15. Yet, Petitioner never once picked up the puppy such that it could not access the calf. The jury could have reasonably inferred an unjustifiable motive based on Petitioner's failure to curtail any perceived threat to his dog.

Fourth, the baby calf was two months old and stood no taller than Petitioner's knee or mid-thigh. App. 181:10-12; 194:2-4; 236:19. The jury could have reasonably inferred, given the calf's age and small size, that it did not present a threat to Petitioner. Fifth, Mr. and Mrs. Scarberry and Petitioner's grandmother all testified to the fact that animosity existed between Mr. Scarberry and Petitioner. App. 178:6-13; 254:20-22. Despite Petitioner's testimony that he harbored no "ill will" toward Mr. Scarberry, Officer Rutherford testified that Petitioner told him he did not like his neighbor, Mr. Scarberry. App. 209:2. So, the jury could have reasonably inferred based on all the testimony that the animosity could have provoked Petitioner to kill the calf in anger or for revenge. *See e.g., State v. Burgess*, 205 W. Va. 87, 90 n.2, 516 S.E.2d 491, 494 n.2 (1999) (finding that killing an animal "out of spite or to extract vengeance or to simply annoy the owner" is proof of malice). Sixth, Officer Rutherford testified that Petitioner admitted he shot the calf because he "was sick of it coming over on his property and, . . . [defecating] everywhere." App. 208:20-22. Again, the evidence was such that the jury could have reasonably inferred that Petitioner killed the calf out of anger or revenge, no matter how long such motive existed. Finally, Petitioner testified that after intending to kill the baby calf with arrows designed to create largescale injury, he watched the calf walk away and did nothing more to ease its suffering. Again, the jury could have reasonably found that such inaction was designed to intentionally torture the calf. *See e.g.,*

*Burgess*, 205 W. Va. at 90, 516 S.E.2d at 494 (describing tortious acts of an animal to include, but not limited to beating “the animal with a stick or club until it died a slow, agonizing death”);

The evidence at the underlying criminal trial was more than sufficient to prove the elements of the greater offense of Petitioner intentionally torturing or maliciously killing the baby calf. Thus, under *Sowards*, there is no insufficiency of the elements of the greater offense and contrary to Petitioner’s allegation, Pet’r’s Br. 11, he was not denied the defense of misdemeanor animal cruelty. Though the misdemeanor instruction was not given, had the jury not found that the State proved the elements of the felony animal cruelty charge, then the jury would have acquitted Petitioner. “Instructions must be based upon the evidence and an instruction which is not supported by evidence should not be given.” Syl. pt. 4, *State v. Collins*, 154 W. Va. 771, 180 S.E.2d 54 (1971). The evidence here simply did not support giving a misdemeanor animal cruelty instruction.

## CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the September 20, 2023, sentencing order of the Circuit Court of Cabell County.